IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KIRK DOUGLAS W	LLLLAMS.
----------------	----------

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-965 L.T. CASE NO. 06-CF-788

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR WALTON
COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0648825 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET, SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8500

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

TABLE OF CITATIONS

(Continued)

CASES	PAGE(S)
	Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) 34,69,70,71
	Rose v. State, 787 So.2d 786 (Fla. 2001)
	<u>Spencer v. State</u> , 645 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1994)
	<u>Spencer v. State</u> , 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993)
	<u>State v. Steele</u> , 921 So.2d 538 (Fla. 2005)
	<u>Swafford v. State</u> , 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988)
	<u>Urbin v. State</u> , 714 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1998) 44,47
	<u>Walls v. State</u> , 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994) 36,63
	<pre>White v. State, 616 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1993)</pre>
	<u>Zack v. State</u> , 753 So.2d 9 (Fla. 2000)
	<u>Zakrzewski v. State</u> , 717 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1998)51
CONST	FITUTIONS AND STATUTES
	United States Constitution
	Amendment VI
	Florida Statutes
	Section 921.14170,71

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS¹

On December 21, 2006, the Walton County Grand Jury indicted appellant, Kirk Douglas Williams, for first-degree premeditated murder with a weapon in the death of Susan Dykes. 1:79-80.

On February 11-14, 2008, Williams was tried before a jury.

Guilt Phase

On Saturday, October 7, 2006, Holmes County Sheriff's deputies recovered a woman's body from Lake Cassidy, in Holmes County. The body had been tied to three concrete blocks with white strapping tape. Investigator Eaton, who was at the scene when the body was pulled from the water, testified that one piece of the tape was tied around her feet, another piece was across the center of her torso, another piece was underneath her breast area, and a fourth piece was around her head across her mouth. Each piece of tape was tied to a cinder block on the back side of her. The tape was marked Mule tape by Nefco and had sequential numbers of measurement on it. The woman had a tattoo on her right arm which read, "The Bull Stops Here."

Fort Walton County Circuit Judge Kelvin C. Wells.

¹ References to the twenty-volume record on appeal are designated the volume number and the page number. References to the two-volume record of exhibits are designated by "E" followed by the volume number and the page number. All proceedings were before

On Monday, October 9, 2006, Holmes County investigators identified the dead woman as Susan Dykes, a Walton County resident. 8:70-71. Investigators from Holmes County met Walton County Investigator Herb Haigh at Dykes' residence at 93 Van Gogh Court, DeFuniak Springs, where they found an aluminum boat leaning against the back of the trailer with a blanket with suspected blood underneath. In the grass near the rear deck, they found a piece of Mule tape of the same type as that on the body, and on the deck they found three cinder blocks similar to those attached to the body. 8:71-73, 9:208-209, 10:407-411.

After obtaining a search warrant, Walton County investigators and crime scene analyst Chuck Richards searched Dykes' trailer. The front door was locked with a deadbolt but they were able to open the back door knob with a pocket knife. On the inside was a hasp lock, which they cut with a hacksaw. 9:209, 10:411-413. In the master bedroom, they found a bloodstain on the carpet next to the bed, a blood spot on the side of the box springs, and some blood spots on top of the mattress, which was bare. Near the stain on the floor was a white towel, a bottle of Resolve carpet cleaner, and a piece of the Mule tape. There was some smearing of the blood as if someone had tried to clean up. They collected a small aluminum T-ball bat from the floor of the master closet, a pair of Boxer blue jeans at the entrance to the dining/kitchen area, and a

white tee shirt that was underneath the jeans, all with suspected blood. They also collected the boat, a blanket and sheet underneath the boat, the Mule tape in the grass, and a paddle, bungee cords, and more Mule tape that was in the boat. 9:210-213, 10:276. Mail addressed to Williams was found inside a red and black backpack in the living room. A tan backpack contained Mule tape. 10:414-415. Later, possibly on October 12, Investigator Haigh collected a pair of Jordache jeans and a towel with blood on them from Dykes' daughter, Jennifer Guess. 10:367-370. Guess testified she was clearing out her mother's mobile home when she found the jeans and towel midway down in a clothes hamper that was in the center of her mother's bedroom. 8:78-79.

In the yard at Dykes' residence was a white Cavalier registered to Kirk Williams with an address of 375 Hillcrest Court, which was the residence of Gillis Douglas, Williams' father-in-law. There, at 375 Hillcrest, they found Dykes 1995 gold Saturn. 8:125-128. They also learned that Douglas owned the boat found at Dykes' trailer. Douglas kept the boat in the back behind the pole barn, behind another little shed, and didn't know it was gone until the police asked him about it. 8:135-140. The trunk and roof of the Saturn had scrape marks that were about six inches apart. 10:252-253. The bottom of the boat had ribs, also about six inches apart. 10:273-274.

The deputies also learned that Williams was in jail, having been picked up for failure to appear by bail bondsman Buel Mooney on Friday, October 6. Mooney testified he found Williams in a shed at 375 Hillcrest Court, working on a vehicle.

Williams went with Mooney voluntarily. 8:187-192. Haigh later retrieved the keys Williams had in his possession when he was arrested, which included a key to Dykes' car and a key to the deadbolt lock on her front door. 11:460-462.

Dykes' landlord, Don Cloer, lived at 124 Van Gogh Court.

Dykes paid \$300 a month in rent plus the utilities. Cloer

testified that Williams was living with Dykes in August 2004.

(Cloer was unable to identify Williams in court). Cloer said he hadn't seen any comings or goings from her residence between

Monday, October 2, and Saturday, October 7, but since he usually sat on the back deck of his home, he wouldn't have seen her coming and going. He said he reported her missing to the Holmes

County Sheriff's Department on Saturday, October 7, and that his neighbors had told him about a body found in the lake the day before, Friday, October 6. He said he last saw Dykes late

Tuesday afternoon when she came to pay the water bill. 8:93-98.

Christopher and Carol Richards lived across the street from Dykes. Mr. Richards said Williams was living with Dykes in the weeks before her death and he had seen Williams driving her Saturn once or twice. Williams drove his white Chevrolet for a

while, and then parked it and began working on it. Richards last saw Dykes on Saturday, September 30. On Wednesday, October 4, around 6-6:30 a.m., Richards was outside starting his car to go to work when Williams pulled up in the Saturn with a flatbottom boat tied to the top. Williams got out, got back in, and pulled in behind the trailer. The next day, Thursday, October 5, sometime after 4:30 p.m., Richards saw Williams enter the trailer, come out carrying a small box, and then leave. Also, on either Thursday or Friday morning, before 6:30 a.m., Williams pulled up next to the trash bin, looked into the windows of his car, and left. 8:102-111.

Carol Richards testified Williams had been at Dykes' residence regularly for about a month and was there morning and night the week before Dykes' was killed, working on his car.

Mrs. Richards last saw Dykes on Sunday, October 1. On Tuesday, October 3, around 6:15-6:30 a.m., she saw a tan Bronco with mud tires and what looked like an Alabama tag parked in the driveway. She didn't see anyone around the car. On Wednesday, October 4, around 6:30 a.m., she saw Williams drive up in Dykes' car with a boat tied on top. Williams got out, probably to move the dog, got back in, and moved the car behind the trailer.

Mrs. Richards called the landlord, Mr. Cloer, to let him know that Kirk was at Dykes' house. Cloer had been asking about Dykes the night before, October 3, because she owed him rent

money and had asked Ms. Richards to call him if she saw Dykes come in. That night, Williams pulled into the driveway, retrieved a small wood grain case from the trailer, and left. On Thursday morning, he pulled up to the trash bin, walked across the yard, shined a flashlight into his car, and left. 8:113-123.

Erica Rudolph worked at D-Train Security Agency in October 2006, where Dykes was employed as a security officer. Rudolph testified the usual practice was for security officers to call the office upon arrival at a job site to report when they arrived and where they were. Ms. Rudolph took a lot of the calls and could recognize Dykes' voice. Rudolph testified Dykes called at 9:30 a.m. on Tuesday, October 3. 9:193-196. Rudolph documented the conversation in a "D-Train Security Agency Incident Report." E1:159. In the handwritten note, Rudolph wrote that Dykes called the office wanting to know why she had not been informed that her present job was ending on October 6, Rudolph told Dykes to ask the person on the site who had told her this to send the Agency a fax stating that the Agency's services were no longer needed. Dykes asked to be placed somewhere else when the job ended, and if they couldn't give her forty hours, she wanted them to lay her off so she could collect unemployment, or give her a good recommendation so she could

 $^{^2}$ The D-Train incident report is attached herein as **Appendix A**.

find another job. Rudolph testified she remembered all of this because she wrote it down. She didn't remember whether Dykes reported for work the next day, Wednesday, the 4th. 9:201-203.

Leon Anderson testified he was captain of the street patrol and security division at D-Train and that Dykes was under his supervision. Asked what he recalled about October 4, 2006, Anderson said, "If I'm not mistaken I received that Ms. Dykes did not show up to work. When they report to work they have to call the answering machine and pretty often we check the post itself. But with Ms. Dykes she's only missed one day when she's been working for me and I only checked her when she first started working here. After that I didn't have to check her anymore because she was always on time and never missed a day. That day she failed to come to work." Anderson said he was unable to reach her by phone, and when he went to the job site, she wasn't there. He wrote her a letter advising her to contact the supervisor when she was taking days off. The next day, or October 6, he got a call from the Sheriff's Office. have been after her body was recovered. 9:203-204.

In Dykes' Saturn, police found a set of car keys; an empty pack of gum; four Regions Bank ATM receipts dated October 3, 2006; two Wal-Mart receipts; two receipts from Murphy USA (a gas station on the premises of Wal-Mart); and an Auto Zone receipt. 10:249-260. In Williams' Cavalier, police found a business card

from Mooney Bonding Agency, indicating a date to appear, October 4. 11:427. Also in the Cavalier were twelve Regions Bank ATM receipts dated August 20, 2006. 11:428. Police obtained surveillance videos and still photos for the ATM transactions and the purchases at Wal-Mart, Murphy USA, and Auto Zone. 11:433-436, 449, 452-458.

The receipts and videos showed that on October 3, 2006, Williams made four ATM withdrawals from Dykes' account. He withdrew \$100 at 12:12 a.m., another \$100 at 1:49 a.m., another \$100 at 4:49 a.m., and \$200 at 6:06 a.m. The third and fourth withdrawals left Dykes with a negative balance. 10:267-268.

That same Tuesday morning, at 5:12 a.m. he purchased a sponge, ring light, safety hasp, and brass lock at Wal-Mart. 10:269, E2:295. In the Wal-Mart video, Williams was wearing long pants, a white sleeveless undershirt, and sandals. 11:444. Then, at 9:51 a.m., Williams bought a 3/8 D.R.S.C.K.T. socket for \$19.99 at Auto Zone. 10:271.

Haigh testified that the body style of the car in the surveillance tapes correlating to the Regions Bank ATM withdrawals on Tuesday, October 3, 2006, was consistent with Dykes' gold Saturn. Haigh said the car appeared to be Dykes' Saturn because "it's got a small door frame" and a dent in the molding matched a ding in Dykes' Saturn. 11:458.

The receipts and videos showed that on Thursday, October 5, Williams purchased gum at Wal-Mart at 5:13 p.m. At 9:44 p.m., he bought \$9.01 of gas at Murphy USA. At 9:47 a.m., Williams bought snacks and cigarettes from the same store. 10:269-271. The October 5 Wal-Mart video showed Williams and his wife, Callie, at the counter. The body style of the car at the Murphy station was consistent with Dykes' Saturn. 11:449-454.

A different card was used for the August 20, 2006, withdrawals. 11:491-492. The receipts and videos showed Williams withdrew \$30 at 3:35 p.m.; \$80 at 4:24 p.m.; and \$100 at 6:08 p.m. The account had a negative balance before the first withdrawal was made. The remaining receipts showed declined transactions that evening at 8:39, 8:41, 8:41, 8:41, 9:59, 9:59, 10:00, 10:00, 10:00, and 10:29 p.m. 11:433-436. Haigh testified the car used in the August 20 ATM transactions was not Dykes' car. 11:436

After finding the Wal-Mart receipt showing the purchase of the hasp and lock, Investigator Haigh compared the hasp that had been cut off the back door of Dykes' trailer to the hasp indicated by the Wal-Mart receipt and concluded they were the same. 11:440-447.

Police recovered Dykes' cell phone, which was plugged into a charger at her residence. Eleven outgoing calls, two incoming calls, and four missed calls had been saved on the phone. On

Friday, September 29, there was an outgoing call at 14:11, to Sergeant Lilly (D-Train). On Saturday, September 30, there were four outgoing calls, at 12:19, a misdial to 837-3001; at 12:19, a call to 837-2001; at 8:07, a call to Captain Anderson (D-Train); and at 20:58, a call to Jennifer Guess. On Sunday, October 1, there was an outgoing call at 18:27 to Don Cloer. Monday, October 1, there were five outgoing calls, at 9:15 a.m., to the D-Train office; at 10:14 a.m., to Don Cloer; at 11:58 a.m., to Jennifer Guess; at 12:07 p.m., to Jennifer's workplace; and at 9:48 p.m. to Williams' cell phone. The two incoming calls were on September 30, at 22:03, from Kirk Williams, and Monday, October 2, at 14:47, from the D-train Office. missed incoming calls were on September 30, at 8:06 a.m., from Captain Anderson (D-Train), and at 20:57, from Jennifer Guess; and on Wednesday, October 4, at 7:31 a.m. from Captain Anderson (D-Train), and at 15:33, from Captain Anderson (D-Train). 11:472-478, E2: 278.³

Haigh testified theft of anything \$300 or more in value is grand theft, which carries a possible prison sentence. Dykes had not charged Williams with theft based on the August 20 transactions. 12:491-492. The maximum penalty for a misdemeanor is less than a year in jail. 12:512-515.

³ The summary of the phone calls saved on Dykes' cell phone is attached herein as **Appendix B**.

Haigh prepared a summary of the pieces of Mule tape found at different locations. The number on the piece found in Dykes' back yard and the number on one of the pieces found in the tan backpack corresponded to the piece of rope tied to Dyke's feet. Another piece from the backpack corresponded to the piece of rope around Dyke's head. 12:504-509.

Crime lab analyst Jay Kelchak testified he received two pairs of blue jeans, a white tank top, bedspread, fitted sheet, aluminum bat, white towel, and swabs of suspected blood from the floor by the bed, the side of a box spring, and the top of a mattress. 10:372. The blood from the aluminum boat, the carpet stain, the Jordache jeans, and the top of the bat matched Dykes. Dykes was the major contributor to the mixture of DNA found on the bat handle. The minor profile, probably from epithelial cells, was male and included Williams as a possible contributor. Dykes also was the major contributor to the mixture of DNA in the blood on the bedspread. Williams could not be excluded from the minor profile, which was male. 10:376, 379, 383, 390, 392, 394, 396.

The blood on the thigh area of the Joe Boxer blue jeans matched Williams. 10:385. The white tank top was negative for blood. 10:387.

Kelchak testified he did not test the towel "due to where it was found at the scene." Because it was located immediately

adjacent to the large stain on the carpet, someone decided it was unnecessary to test the towel. 10:388. He also didn't test some of the other swabs. 10:397.

Dr. Cameron Snider, Associate Medical Examiner, testified the autopsy was conducted by Dr. Charles Siebert on October 9, 2008. Dr. Snider reviewed Siebert's report, photographs, and other evidence, and concurred with his conclusions. 10:288-291.

Dr. Snider testified Dykes was 5'1" and 95 pounds. The body, clothed in a black T-shirt, was bloated due to having been in the water. Nylon cords were wrapped around the upper and lower body and tied to cinder blocks. The cinder block at the mid-back was secured by rope around the chest, and the cinder block near the right hip was secured by rope around the waist. The feet were thrust through the third cinder block. A rope around the mouth was secured around the back of the head with a knot, not attached to any cinder block. 10:308-310.

The cause of death was blunt force trauma. Dykes sustained five injuries to the head, from 3 to 7 centimeters in length, two injuries on the right, above and behind the ear, and two injuries on the left, above and behind the ear, and a fifth in front. There also was a small laceration to the chin. The head injuries were from a blunt force instrument striking the head

⁴Dr. Siebert had stepped down as Medical Examiner in December 2007.

and were consistent with having been caused by a bat. There also were injuries underneath the scalp and on the surface of the brain. The lacerations to the forehead and right side caused bruising and bleeding on the surface of the brain, which is called a subdural hematoma. Dr. Snider could not say which blow or blows caused the bleeding. 10:310-313, 330.

Dr. Snider said the first blow could have resulted in death and each of the blows could have resulted in unconsciousness. There was no way to know which blow was delivered first or which blow caused the bleeding. The blows could have been delivered in seconds. 10:331-332.

Dr. Snider also found animal activity to the right hand and a broken carpal bone, which seemed to have gnaw marks.

Hemorrhage next to the fracture indicated injury, but Dr. Snider could not say if the injury was there first or if the injury came from the animal activity, such as the bite of a snapping turtle. 10:333-339, 352.

Although the exact time of death could not be determined, the body was consistent with having been placed in the lake three to four days prior to removal. 10:328. Dykes had a blood alcohol level of .07, which could be the result of decomposition processes. No other illegal substances were found. 10:316-317.

Three jailhouse informants testified. William Hawley had

19 to 20 felony convictions, some involving dishonesty, and had

been in prison for thirteen or fourteen years. He had one more year on his original sentence, then another fifteen years for escape. Hawley said he talked to Williams at the Walton County Jail in June 2007. Hawley was there for twelve hours while being transferred from one prison to another. He was given a temporary bed in the dayroom of a locked down area. Williams was in one of six or seven cells that were on one side of the dayroom. Hawley said he talked to Williams through the door and they could see each other through an 8" by 3' glass window in the door. Hawley said Williams showed him the death penalty notice he had received and talked about problems with his attorney and discharging his attorney. He asked Hawley how to "beat a murder case when there's no confession." He told Hawley he was on a crack cocaine binge and was abusing the victim's ATM and credit cards. She threatened to turn him in because he was using the cards. They got into a physical confrontation over his use of the cards and he beat her with a baseball bat and she He took the body out to Lake Cassidy, wrapped it up in a rope and blanket, and threw her in the lake. He said once he started, he knew he had to kill her and get rid of the body because he didn't want to go back to prison. He had been in prison twice and didn't want to go back. He said he had been in prison for possession of a shotgun by a convicted felon. showed Hawley pictures of his wife and infant and said he had

been caught on the jail surveillance tape instructing his wife to dispose of some evidence. 12:526-537.

Hawley had assisted in "dozens" of cases over the years.

He hadn't received credit or leniency but had gotten paid for his assistance. In this case, the prosecutor promised he would advise the court of his cooperation in the case. 12:538-544.

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