IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KIRK DOUGLAS WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC08-965

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

trial court's rejection of mitigation:

Because Dr. Pinkard is the only expert who examined Trotter in his Trotter contends his testimony should be essentially vouth, determinative and afforded great weight. We disagree. First, the question of evidentiary weight is reserved to the circuit court, and this Court does not reweigh the evidence. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120, 1123 (Fla.1981) ("Legal sufficiency alone, as opposed to evidentiary weight, is the appropriate concern of an appellate tribunal."), aff'd, 457 U.S. 31, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982). Second, the circuit court found Dr. Pinkard's testimony unreliable. The determination of the credibility of witnesses also is reserved to the trial court. Windom v. State, 886 So.2d 915, 927 (Fla.2004) ("This Court has held that it will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, and likewise on the credibility of witnesses and the weight given to the evidence so long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence.").

This case includes direct evidence supporting the trial court's finding of CCP. However, even if this case were entirely circumstantial, the "circumstantial evidence rule does not require the jury to believe defendant's version of events where State has produced conflicting evidence," <u>Finney v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 674, 680 (Fla. 1995), <u>citing Holton</u> <u>v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 284, 289-90 (Fla. 1990); here, the trier of fact was the trial judge, who was "not require[d] ... to believe defendant's version of events where State has produced conflicting evidence."

Concerning ISSUE I, competent, substantial evidence must support the elements of CCP:

[T]he jury must determine that the killing was the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage (cold); and that the defendant had a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder before the fatal incident (calculated); and that the defendant exhibited heightened premeditation (premeditated); and that the defendant had no pretense of moral or legal justification.

Duest v. State, 855 So.2d 33, 45 (Fla. 2003), quoting Jackson v. State, 648

So.2d 85, 89 (Fla. 1994).

Here, the trial court's order finding CCP is, in fact, supported by

"competent, substantial evidence."

B. Trial Court's Findings.

The trial court found that CCP had been proved:

The defendant, KIRK WILLIAMS, knew the victim Susan Dykes; and the victim knew the defendant. The defendant was married to Callie Douglas Williams; he and his wife resided together with Callie's parents for a short time after the marriage until his father-in-law kicked him out of the house. Sometime thereafter, defendant met and lived with the victim for a few months immediately preceding her death on or about October 3rd, 2006. The defendant murdered Susan Dykes in her trailer by brutally beating her about the head with an aluminum baseball bat. He gagged her at some point as he carried out the murder. He stole his father-in-law's boat from his yard for use in carrying out his murder plan. The defendant wrapped her body in a blanket to transport her. Using the victim's car, with the boat tied atop, he then took Susan Dykes' body to Lake Cassidy (several miles away from the victim's residence). The defendant used 'muletape' rope and bound her torso and both feet to three concrete blocks, and then threw her overboard and sank her body in the lake with the intent that she never be found. The muletape rope matched sections of the same rope later found inside and around Susan Dykes's trailer. The concrete blocks tied to the body matched other concrete blocks from the trailer premises.

KIRK WILLIAMS' decision to kill Susan Dykes, however poorly conceived, was made in the early morning hours of Tuesday, October 3rd, 2006, as he realized that he would be going to prison if she lived to charge him with grand theft. At about 5:12 a.m., on October

³ The first paragraph is quoted from the avoid-arrest section of the Sentencing Order, but it establishes a background for all of the aggravation.

3rd, 2006, the defendant purchased the hasp and lock at Walmart with the intent to secure the eventual crime scene. The timing of the hasp and lock purchase and its installation on the rear door of the trailer leads to the conclusion that the defendant planned to commit the murder and secure the crime scene. The defendant had time to reflect on his planned murder of Susan Dykes and did so. The testimony of William Hawley was that the defendant told him that he committed the murder because he knew he would go back to prison.

The defendant (at the *Spencer* hearing) testified that he purchased the hasp and lock for the purpose of securing the door to Susan Dykes' trailer. This admission by the defendant confirms that the purchase of the hasp and lock was done with an intent to kill Susan Dykes.

(III 571, 575)

C. Competent Substantial Evidence Supporting the Trial Court's Findings.⁴

The trial court emphasizes the timing of Williams' purchase of the hasp. As a preliminary factual matter, it is important to keep in mind that law enforcement found the victim's **front** door secured with a dead bolt (XI 460) When they checked the **back** door, it was easy to jimmie the door partially open, but a hasp prevented the door from fully opening. In order to enter, officers hacksawed the hasp. (X 412-13; IX 209; X 281, 285; XII 484, 525, 519; SE #40; Exh 249) On October 18, 2006, Investigator Haugh purchased a hasp from Wal-Mart to compare it with the hasp he had to cut from the back door of the victim's home. (XI 440-41) Photographs depicted

⁴ Identity is not contested on appeal, so in its argumentation within the issues, the State does not focus on the evidence showing witnesses' ability to recognize Williams' appearance and Williams' voice and the DNA evidence. However, identity-type evidence is discussed in the Facts section <u>supra</u>.

When a fact is initially referenced in the Argument section of the brief, an attempt is made to fully document it with references to the record. However, when these facts are subsequently repeated, generally the record citations are not repeated. See also Guilt-Phase Facts supra.

the cut hasp (Exh 338; XI 441) and the newly purchased hasp with the same product number (Exh 340, 342; XI 442); the product number was also on the Wal-Mart receipt found in the victim's Saturn (XI 443), which was recovered near where the bondsman arrested Williams (<u>See</u> VIII 189-90). When Williams was arrested, he had the keys to the victim's car and the victim's residence with him, as they were found among his jail property (XI 460, 461-62; Exh 353, 359). The Wal-Mart receipt for the hasp and padlock were also found in the victim's car, which Williams had also been seen driving several times in the week of the murder. (<u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, VIII 105-109, 116-17)

There was evidence that the victim was subdued and silenced before she was killed because, when her body was recovered, a rope extended through the victim's mouth and to the back of her head, where it was tied (<u>See Exh 131;; VIII 152-55, 173-76, 180; X 309; see also ISSUE III infra</u>); as the trial court found, the victim was "gag[ed] ... to prevent her from crying out." (III 576) The injuries to the victim's head demonstrated a determination to kill her, as each of five lacerations on her head was indicative of a potentially fatal blow. (See X 310-14, 331-32)

Inside the residence, officers found evidence that the perpetrator had been attempting to clean up: carpet cleaner was next to the largest blood spot on the carpet, and there was smearing indicating attempted cleaning. A bloody towel was near that blood spot. (IX 211-12; X 230-31, 392-93; Exh 243, 281, 283) The victim's bloody jeans were found in the middle of the hamper in the residence and contained the victim's blood (VIII 79-80, 81-

82; X 367-70, 393-95, 400; XI 461; SE #23; Exh 355), indicating an intent to wash away evidence.

Williams went to extreme lengths to hide the victim's body at the bottom of Lake Cassidy (<u>See</u> VIII 59, 65, 152-54, 173, 181-85; Exh 138-57; SE #8B; Exh 107) using an aluminum boat he stole from his father-in-law (<u>See</u> VIII 105-108, 116-17, 130, 139-43; X 251-55, 271-74; Exh 32, 34, 38, 40, 42, 91) and weighting the body with three concrete blocks tied to the body with Mule rope. Williams provided specific instructions to his wife, Callie, to retrieve the bloody material he had used in disposing of the victim's body. (<u>See</u> XII 614-21; transcript at SE #45, Exh 382-91; <u>see also</u> XIII 658-59; VIII 142)

Moreover, there was competent substantial evidence showing that Williams was financially needy (XII 602-603; <u>see also</u> XII 515-16), thereby motivated to steal. He did not even have a place of his own to stay. His father-in-law threw him out of his house (XII 585-86), and for a few weeks he had been living at the victim's mobile home (VIII 104, 114). He "didn't have a steady job." (XII 602-603)

The foregoing background shows the context for the timing of the events leading up to and out of Williams' murder of Susan Dykes, including Williams' purchase of the hasp:

2006

Oct. 3	12:12 a.m.	Williams withdrew \$100 from the victim's bank account, leaving a balance of \$167.40. (SE #21- F; Exh 293; X 267-68)
Oct. 3	1:49 a.m.	Williams withdrew \$100 from the victim's bank account, leaving a balance of \$67.40. (SE #21-

F; Exh 293; X 268)

- Oct. 3 4:49 a.m. Williams withdrew \$100 from the victim's bank account, leaving a balance of -\$94.65. (SE #21-F; Exh 294; X 268)
- Oct. 3 5:12 a.m. Williams purchased hasp and padlock from Wal-Mart. (See SE #21-B & 21-F; Exh 295; X 269; XI 443-45, 448; SE #31; XI 447; SE #32; Exh 343, 344; compare Exh 338, XI 440-43 with Exh 340, 342, XI 442)
- Oct. 3 6:06 a.m. Williams withdrew \$200 from the victim's bank account, leaving a balance of -\$294.65. (SE #21-F; Exh 294; X 268)
- Oct. 3 9:30 a.m. Ms. Dykes called Erica Rudolph at D-Train Security from her job site at Lincus, a construction site; Ms. Dykes indicated that her current security assignment was ending on October 6, and she requested 40 or more hours of more work afterwards. (IX 196, 200, Exh 159)
- Oct. 3 Late Ms. Dykes reimbursed her landlord, Don Cloer, afternoon \$20 for her water bill. (VIII 97-98)
- Oct. 4 ~6:00 to Mr. & Mrs. Richards saw Williams drive up to 6:30 a.m. Ms. Dykes' residence in the victim's Saturn, with "a flat bottom aluminum boat" tied to the top of the car; Williams pulled in behind the trailer so that he could no longer be seen. (VIII 105-108, 116-18)
- Oct. 4 [unknown Ms. Dykes did not show up for work, which was time]⁵ very unusual for her. (IX 203-204)
- Oct. Night or Williams parked Ms. Dykes' Saturn at her 4 or 5 late residence and retrieve a case or box and left afternoon in the Saturn. (VIII 108-109, 119)
- Oct. Morning Williams drove Ms. Dykes' Saturn up next to a 5 or 6 Williams drove Ms. Dykes mobile home and looked in the window of his Cavalier and drove off in Ms. Dykes' Saturn. (VIII 109, 119-20)
- Oct. 5 5:13 p.m. Williams and his wife, Callie, went to Wal-Mart in Ms. Dykes' Saturn to cash a check; he bought

⁵ The witness did not provide a specific time.

a pack of gum so that Wal-Mart would cash the check. (XII 595-96; X 270; Exh 296)

- Oct. 6 Bondsman arrested Williams ~Noon on а charge unrelated to this murder; when arrested, Williams was near Ms. Dykes' Saturn and wanted to access it; he was working on another car. (VIII 187-90) When arrested, Williams had the keys to the victim's car and the victim's residence with him, as they were found among his jail property. (XI 460, 461-62; Exh 353, 359)
- Oct. 7 ~9:30 a.m. Ms. Dykes' body discovered in Lake Cassidy. (VIII 40-60) Three concrete blocks were tied to her body (VIII 65, 152-54, 173, 183-84; Exh 138-41) using the same type of Mule rope gagging the victim's mouth and found several other places, including in the aluminum boat and in the victim's back yard (<u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, VIII 73, 153-55, 175, 181-82; IX 212; X 242-43, 277-78, 309; XII 502-509; Exh 131, 380-81; SE #19 Exh 265, 267)
- Oct. 8 Williams called his then-18-year-old wife (VIII 133-34), Callie, and directed her to retrieve the blanket and sheet next to the aluminum boat he had left in Ms. Dykes' backyard. (XII 606-623; transcript at SE #45, Exh 382-91; XIII 658-602; VIII 142)

As the trial court indicated (III 575), although not necessary to affirm the CCP finding, Williams did testify in the <u>Spencer</u> hearing that he bought the hasp intending to use it to secure the crime scene (XVI 42), and the trial court was entitled to accredit that portion of Williams' testimony, especially given the other facts in the case.

In sum, in the midst of cleaning out Ms. Dykes' bank account, Williams bought a hasp to secure the crime scene that he intended to create and did create several hours later and, in fact, secured the crime scene with the hasp he bought. There was nothing frenzied about Williams' methodically cleaning out the victim's account, buying the hasp, and elaborately following-through by disposing of the body and attempting to clean up the crime scene while he thought it was secured; this murder was cold. Williams' premeditation extended for hours as he executed his prearranged design; this murder was calculated with heightened premeditation.

Moreover, with about a 70-pound weight advantage over the victim (<u>Compare X 308 with I 1</u>), Williams knew that his aluminum bat would be sufficient to implement his planned murder. And, while the medical examiner's testimony was limited due to the decomposition of the body, one does not generally gag a dead or unconscious body, and one generally does not strike repeated severe blows when the person is obviously already dead.

Competent substantial evidence clearly supports the trial court's CCP finding.

Indeed, William Hawley testified that Williams told him he killed to victim because he did not want to go back to prison. (See XII 532-34) Williams was determined not to return to prison as he purchased the hasp and lock (See SE #21-B & 21-F; Exh 295; X 269; XI 443-45, 448; SE #31; XI 447; SE #32; Exh 343, 344; compare Exh 338; XI 440-43 with Exh 340, 342; XI 442) to seal the crime scene (See IX 209; X 412-13; X 281, 285; XII 484, 519, 525; SE #40; Exh 249), as he emptied the victim's bank account (See SE #21-F; Exh 293; X 267-68; SE #21-F; Exh 293-94; XI 454-60; Exh 347-51; XII 586; see also XII 589, 593), as he tried to clean up the crime scene (See, e.g., X 392-93; IX 211-12; X 230-31; Exh 243, 281, 283), and as he took the victim's body to a lake and sunk it with three large concrete blocks tied to her with Mule tape (See Guilt-Phase Facts re Williams' access to father-

in-law's boat, Williams seen driving with boat on victim's car, scratch marks on car matching boat ribs, blood in boat, Williams telling wife to retrieve bloody blanket and sheet hidden near boat, blocks tied to victim in lake).

D. Williams' Case Law and "Hypothesis of Innocence."

Williams (IB 44) cites to <u>Mahn v. State</u>, 714 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1998); <u>Geralds v. State</u>, 601 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 1992), and <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984), as purported support for his arguments that a reasonable hypothesis of innocence provides a basis for concluding that CCP was not proved. Leading up to citing these cases, Williams posits several of **his views** concerning the evidence. The overarching principle that Williams ignores is that the trial court's determination merits a view of any evidence that supports it.

First, Williams (IB 37-38, 38 n.8) mentions in passing that the trial court accepted the State's theory of the case "lock, stock, and barrel." However, Williams does not develop a claim that the trial court did not fulfill its responsibility to determine the sentence, thereby failing to preserve any such claim at the appellate level. <u>See Whitfield v. State</u>, 923 So.2d 375, 379 (Fla. 2005)("we summarily affirm because Whitfield presents merely conclusory arguments"); <u>Lawrence v. State</u>, 831 So.2d 121, 133 (Fla. 2002)("Lawrence complains, in a single sentence ... bare claim is unsupported by argument); <u>Sweet v. State</u>, 810 So.2d 854, 870 (Fla. 2002)("Sweet simply recites these claims from his postconviction motion in a sentence or two"; unpreserved). Further, after the trial court read its

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